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=B US, DISTRICT counr

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SACV13-0209 3 (T7p+]

BEATS ELECTRONICS, LLC, a CASE NO.
Delaware Limited Liability Company,
Plaintiff, COMPLAINT FOR TRADE DRESS
V. INFRINGEMENT, PATENT
INFRINGEMENT AND UNFAIR
YAMAHA CORPORATION OF COMPETITION
AMERICA, a California Corporation,
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant.
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Plaintiff, Beats Electronics, LLC (“Beats”), by itdtorneys, asserts claim

UJ

against Defendant, Yamaha Corporation of Ameridéa haha”), for violation of
Beats’ proprietary rights relating to the produonfiguration and appearance qf
Beats’ headphone products. For its Complaint, 8abé¢ges as follows:

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Beats is a limited liability company ongaed under the laws
of Delaware, with a principal place of businessl@01 Cloverfield Boulevard,
Suite 5000N, Santa Monica, California 90404. Bésis world-class producer of
cutting-edge audio equipment, including its “PrdiSolo,” “Studio,” and
“Wireless” headphone products, all of which feat@eats’ proprietary product
design protected by trade dress rights and U.Sgbé%atents owned by Beats.

2. Upon information and belief, Yamaha is a Califoroaaporation with
a principal place of business at 6600 OrangethAxamue, Buena Park, California
90620.

NATURE OF THE ACTION
3. This Complaint is brought because of Yamaha's ongo

manufacture, importation, marketing and/or sale$?od 300,” “Pro 400" and “Pro
500" headphones (collectively, the “Infringing Hphdnes”), which are knock-
offs of Beats’ world-famous “Studio,” “Solo” and “M¢less” model headphone

)

(respectively, the “Studio Headphones,” “Solo Hdaupes” and “Wireless
Headphones”)(collectively, the “Beats Headphone®) a result of these actions,

|®X

Yamaha has: [i] infringed Beats’ famous and digtuectrade dress and committe
unfair competition in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 113} [ii] infringed Beats’ United
States Patents, Pat. Nos. D632,668 (the 668 Batend D552,077 (the “077
Patent”) (collectively, “Beats Patents”), in viotat of 35 U.S.C. 8§ 271(a); [iii]
committed unfair competition in violation of the I@arnia Unfair Practices Act,
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Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17206t. seg.; and [iv] committed trade dress$

infringement and unfair competition in violation Galifornia common law.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
4.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction undee @n more of the
following statutes: 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal dgoes, 28 U.S.C. § 1338 (patent
and trademarks), and 28 U.S.C. § 1367 (supplemgmisdliction).
5. Personal jurisdiction is proper in the Central Bstof California
under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c) with respectafeDdant, because a substant
part of the events giving rise to the claims ocedrin this District. Upon

information and belief, Defendant is located withinms District, conducts regular

business within this District, and specifically hmarketed and continues to market

the Infringing Headphones in this District.
6. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (a), (b)(ahdas well as 28
U.S.C. § 1400(b).

BACKGROUND AND FACTS RELATED TO THIS ACTION
7. Beats grew out of collaboration between legendédrgtaand producer

Andre Young (professionally known as Dr. Dre) andndy lovine, Chairman of
Interscope Geffen A&M Records. Among its produ@sats has developed a ne
line of revolutionary headphones with the capatityeproduce the full spectrunm
of sound that musical artists and producers heanwiroducing music. Among
these revolutionary headphones are the Beats SHeholphones, the Beats Sol

Headphones, and the Beats Wireless Headphonesrabewpies of photographs

of the Studio Headphones are attached hereto abiEah copies of photographs
of the Solo Headphones are attached hereto as iEXBjband copies of
photographs of the Wireless Headphones are attdwretb as Exhibit C.

U)
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8.  The designs of the Beats Studio, Solo and Wirdtessdphones were

revolutionary when they were introduced. In cositt®d the headphones on the

market at the time, the Beats’ Headphones were hhigtylized and sleek.
Consumers appreciated the design, as well as taedsquality, of the Beats
Headphones and began wearing the Beats Headphom@sdaheir necks as 3
fashion accessory even when not listing to musicfact, the design of the Beat
Headphones has been a significant driver of thenwential success the products.

9. Since their introduction, Beats’ Headphones hayeyed tremendous
popularity and sales. The Studio Headphones haga featured with Dr. Dre in

commercials for Dr. Pepper, and have been endansesimmercials by numerous

performing artists, such as William Adams (professily known as will.i.am) and
Ellie Goulding. Beats Headphones are regularly nwdny collegiate and
professional athletes during nationally broadcpstteing events including college
and professional football and basketball games.

10. Moreover, through Beats’ extensive sales and priomaif the Beats

Headphones, consumers have come to associate gstiective appearance of

Beats’ Studio Headphones, Solo Headphones, andiésgréHeadphones with 3
single source, namely Beats. Accordingly, theinlisitve appearance of the Studi
Headphones, Solo Headphones and Wireless Headphomestitute Beats’

protectable, proprietary trade dress rights. Muadicularly, Beats’ Trade Dress

rights in these products consists of the overgleapance of the shape and desi
of the headphones, including the size, proportiod eurvature of the headbang
yoke and earcups, as depicted in the collectigor@flucts shown in Exhibits A-C
(“Beats’ Trade Dress Rights”). As a result, Bedisdde Dress Rights, along witl
the valuable goodwill associated with both Beatsne and its products, are ver

valuable assets of Beats.

U)
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11. To further protect its revolutionary designs, Bdas obtained patent
protection for the design of its headphones, andsaiive Beats Patents. A copy of
each of the Beats Patents is attached collecthaigto as Exhibit D.

12. In an effort to trade off of the goodwill and tremai®us success of the

—r

Beats Headphones, Defendant has brought to martvdine of headphones thg
copied the distinctive aspects of the Beats’ Headph that comprise Beats’ Trade
Dress Rights.

13. Notably, the design and appearance of Defendamfsinging
Headphones, as shown in Exhibit E, are a significe@parture from that of the
headphones offered by Defendant prior to Beatsbdhiction of its revolutionary
headphone design.

14. Defendant has, and continues to, manufacture og h@aanufactured,

import, market, distribute and sell the infringilnge of headphones as its “PRO
line of headphone products. These Infringing Headps are substantially thg

D

same as the designs in the Beats Patents, sucthdlyanfringe the Beats Patents.
The Infringing Headphones are also confusingly lsinto the Beats Headphones
such that they infringe Beats’ Trade Dress Right$ Beats’ Patents, and trade off
of Beats’ goodwill in its products. A side-by-sidemparison of the Infringing
Headphones and an exemplary Beats Headphone, edtdghreto as Exhibit F,
evidences the confusing similarity between Defetiddreadphones and the Beats
products embodying Beats’ Trade Dress rights aratB@atent rights.

15. The advertisements reproduced below, which incleferences to
either Beats or Dr. Dre and have been displaye®&fendant or its affiliate at
www.facebook.com/Yamahabackstagepass#!/yamahaAv&da®, further show

Defendant’s intention to copy the distinctive des@f Beats’ headphones and/qr
its intention to trade off of the goodwill assoeidtwith Beats’ product appearance.
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16. On November 30th, 2012, Beats, through its counseljfied
Defendant that the Infringing Headphones violate Beats Patents and Beatj
Trade Dress Rights. Thus, at least as of NoverBbér, 2012, Defendant hadl
actual knowledge of the Beats Patents and BeatsidelrDress Rights.

UJ

Nevertheless, Defendant continues to manufactutegaee manufactured, import
distribute and sell the Infringing Headphones, ¢bgr willfully infringing the
Beats Patents and Beats’ Trade Dress Rights.

© 00 N oo 0o b W DN P

CAUSES OF ACTION
COUNT |
Trade Dress Infringement and Unfair Competition
(Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act: 15 U.S.C. 81125fa
17. Beats realleges and incorporates herein the preg@diragraphs 1-16

e o e
N W N P O

of this Complaint.

=
(62

18. As set forth above, Beats has owned a valid angqiable interest in

=
(ep}

its Studio Headphones, Solo Headphones, and Warélesdphones since before

H
\l

the acts of Defendant complained of herein. Asult of Beats’ continuous

=
(o]

exclusive and extensive promotion and sale of th&di® Headphones, Solg

=
©

Headphones, and Wireless Headphones in intersiatemerce and the commercial

N
o

success of these headphones, Beats’ unique Traahs Das developed secondalry

N
[y

meaning amongst the relevant consumers as an fideraf the source of the

N
N

headphones.

N
w

19. Due to Beats’ expansive advertising campaign arieeroefforts,

N
~

Beats’ Trade Dress is widely recognized by the g@neonsuming public as g

N
(6]

source of Beats’ goods. Beats’ headphones aratesheeand sold throughout thq
United States, and have been advertised and pddidoy both Beats and thirgl
parties. Indeed, as early as 2010, Advertising Agimed Beats one of the hotte

NN
~N O
U

U)
—+

N
oo

brands in America. Since 2010, Beats’ brand reitognand the strength of its

6
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Trade Dress have continued to grow. As such, Bdatgle Dress is a strong
mark, and became well-known before Defendant besgdlimg or advertising its
Infringing Headphones.

20. The features that comprise the Beats’ Trade Dresd the
combination of those features are non-functional.

21. Defendant’s conduct is causing, and is likely totcae to cause in
the future, confusion, mistake or deception ashi affiliation, connection or
association of Defendant with Beats, and as tathgn, sponsorship or approval
of Defendant’s goods, in violation of Section 43tbé Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C
§ 1125(a)(1).

22. Defendant’s unauthorized and tortious conduct o deprived, and

—h

will continue to deprive, Beats of the ability tontrol the consumer perception g
its goods marketed under Beats’ Trade Dress Righisging the valuable
reputation and goodwill of Beats in the hands ofelddant, over whom Beats hals
no control.

23. Defendant's knowledge of Beats’ Trade Dress Rigind reckless
disregard for the likely confusion caused by ittssaenders this case exceptional
under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).

24. As a result of Defendant’s aforesaid conduct, Bdais suffered
substantial damage and irreparable harm consgtaminjury for which it has no
adequate remedy at law. Unless this Court enjoefendant’s conduct, Beats wil

continue to suffer irreparable harm.

COUNT 11
Patent Infringement - the ‘668 Patent
(35 U.S.C. § 271(a))
25. Beats realleges and incorporated herein its pregegaragraphs 1
24 of this Complaint.
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26. Beats is the owner by assignment of all the righie and interest in
the ‘668 Patent, entitled “Audio Listening Systermhich was duly and legally
issued by the United States Patent and TrademdikeQdn February 15, 2011
from an application filed on March 11, 2010.

27. Inviolation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant isedtly infringing the
‘668 Patent by making, having made, using, impgrtioffering for sale, selling
and/or marketing the Infringing Headphones.

28. Based on the near-identical similarity between timdringing
Headphones and Beats’ Solo Headphones, it is tlaaDefendant knowingly and
intentionally copied Beats’ ‘668 Patent, and idfwily infringing Beats’ rights.

29. This is an exceptional case within the meaning ®fiBS.C. § 285,
which warrants reimbursement of Beats’ reasonatderaeys’ fees.

30. As a result of Defendant’s aforesaid conduct, Bdas suffered
substantial damage and irreparable harm consgtaminjury for which it has no
adequate remedy at law. Unless this Court enjogfendant’s conduct, Beats wil

continue to suffer irreparable harm.

COUNT I
Patent Infringement - the ‘077 Patent
(35 U.S.C. § 271(a))

31. Beats realleges and incorporates herein the pmgguiragraphs 1 —
30 of this Complaint.

32. Beats is the owner by assignment of all the righig and interest in
the ‘077 Patent, entitled “Headphone,” which wab/dand legally issued by the
United States Patent and Trademark Office on Oct®p2007 from an application
filed on June 13, 2006.
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33. Inviolation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), Defendant isedtly infringing the
‘077 Patent by making, having made, using, impgrtioffering for sale, selling
and/or marketing the Infringing Headphones.

34. Based on the near-identical similarity between tmdringing
Headphones and Beats’ Studio Headphones, it is tiaa Defendant knowingly
and intentionally copied Beats’ ‘077 Patent, andwififully infringing Beats’
rights.

35. This is an exceptional case within the meaning ®fB3S.C. § 285,
which warrants reimbursement of Beats’ reasonatderaeys’ fees.

36. As a result of Defendant’s aforesaid conduct, Bdas suffered
substantial damage and irreparable harm consgtaminjury for which it has no
adequate remedy at law. Unless this Court enjogfendant’s conduct, Beats wil

continue to suffer irreparable harm.

COUNT IV
Violation of California Unfair Practices Act
(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17206@t. seq.)

37. Beats realleges and incorporates herein the pmgguiragraphs 1 —
36 of this Complaint.

38. Due to Beats’ expansive advertising campaign arfeeroefforts,
Beats’ Trade Dress is widely recognized in Califarand throughout the Uniteg
States by the general consuming public as a soofddeats’ goods. Beats’
Headphones are advertised in California and througthe United States, an(
have been advertised and publicized by both Beadstlaird parties. As such
Beats’ Trade Dress is a strong mark, and becamekwaivn before Defendant
began selling or advertising its Infringing Headpés.

39. The features that comprise the Beats’ Trade Dresd the

combination of those features are non-functional.

S
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40. Defendant’s actions complained of herein constitutdair trade
practices in violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Codel 8200 in that they are likely tg
cause confusion or misunderstanding as to soupmssrship of approval of
Defendant’s goods. Defendant’'s deceptive condlstt ereates a likelihood of
confusion as to the affiliation, connection or a&sgton of its goods with Beats’
well-known Studio Headphones, Solo Headphones, \Aliréless Headphones
Such confusion damages the goodwill associatedBetis’ name and products.

41. Defendant had notice of Beats’ ownership of antitagn its Trade
Dress before Defendant's first use of its confulgingimilar headphones.
Accordingly, Defendant has willfully engaged in dptive trade practices in
violation of California law.

42. As a result of Defendant’s willful and maliciousnciuct, Beats is
likely to suffer, and has in fact already sufferexttual injury in fact and
irreparable harm for which it has no adequate rgnadaw. Unless this Court

enjoins Defendant’s conduct, Beats will continusuéfer irreparable harm.

COUNT V
California Common Law Trade Dress Infringement andUnfair Competition

43. Beats realleges and incorporates herein the pmgguiragraphs 1 —
42 of this Complaint.

44. Beats has used and promoted the Studio, Solo anceleAs
Headphones within this State prior to Defendantfsinging conduct complained
of herein, and Beats possesses superior commongdhats in the Studio, Solo, ang
Wireless Headphones under the common law of the SfaCalifornia.

45. Defendant’s unauthorized promotion, use, and shlde Infringing
Headphones is likely to cause confusion among cuoassl and existing and

prospective customers.

10
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46. By virtue of its actions described herein, Deferidaas infringed
upon Beats’ Trade Dress, and has improperly tramedhe goodwill associatec
therewith, in violation of the common law of thitag.

47. As a result of Defendant’'s aforesaid conduct, Bdws suffered
substantial damage and irreparable harm consgtaminjury for which it has no
adequate remedy at law. Unless this Court enjoefendant’s conduct, Beats wil

continue to suffer irreparable harm.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court eptegment in its favor

and against Defendant as follows:

A. Judgment be entered that Defendant has infdrthe claim of the
‘077 Patent directly, either literally or under tdectrine of equivalents, and/o
indirectly;

B. Judgment be entered that Defendant has infiirtge claim of the
‘668 Patent directly, either literally or under tdectrine of equivalents, and/o
indirectly;

C. Judgment be entered that Defendant has infiliBgats’ Trade Dress

committed acts of unfair competition in violatiof @5 U.S.C. § 1125 and
California common law;

D. Judgment be entered permanently enjoining Defiendnd each of its
officers, members, employees, owners, managersitggattorneys, successory
servants, subsidiaries, related entities, licensaas assigns, and all persons acti
in concert with any of the foregoing, from:

I.  Any further acts of infringement or inducement wiringement
of the ‘077 Patent or the ‘668 Patent;

11

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1125, and in violation afifGrnia common law, and has

]
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E.
U.S.C. § 285;
F.

selling, offering for sale, holding for sale, impog,

advertising, or promoting any merchandise, goodseovices
using trade dress that infringes Beats’ Trade Doesmy trade
dress confusingly similar thereto; or

doing any other act or thing that is likely to imguthe belief
that the Defendant’'s goods or services are in sovag

connected with Beats’ goods or their respectivenasses;

Judgment be entered that this case is an eanaptase under 35

Defendant be held liable and ordered to accfmurgnd pay to Beats:

damages adequate to compensate Beats for Defesd
infringement of the Beats Patents in an amountess than a
reasonable royalty pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284,
Defendant’s respective total profits pursuant to 35.C.
§ 289;

treble damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 based
Defendant’s willful infringement of the Beats Patnand
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a) based on Deferslawliful
infringement of Beats’ Trade Dress;

all gains, benefits, and advantages derived frerDi@fendant’s
wrongful use, misappropriation, and infringement Béats’
Trade Dress;

all losses and damages, including lost profits andts for
corrective advertising, suffered by Beats as a ltrestu the
Defendant’'s wrongful use and infringement of Beafsade
Dress, including prejudgment interest and costsyamt to 15
U.S.C.§1117;

12
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vi. Beats’ reasonable attorneys’ fees under 35 U.SZ858and 15
U.S.C. §1117(a); and

vii. Beats’ pre-judgment and post-judgment interest @odts
pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 and 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a)

G. Requiring Defendant to deliver to Beats for degton all Infringing
Headphones and any other products or other articlés possession or contro
bearing Beats’ Trade Dress, or any reproductionntarfeit, copy or colorable
imitation thereof, and all plates, molds, matriceseens or other means of makir|
the same; and, that Defendant be required to rattdlfringing Headphones ang
any other products bearing Beats’ Trade Dress fteraustomers and refund an
monies paid for such products to its customers;

H.  Requiring Defendant to deliver to Beats fortdegion any and all

Infringing Headphones or any other infringing tradeess or any trade dres
confusingly similar thereto;

l. Declaring that Defendant’s actions complainedabbve constitute a
violation of the California Unfair Practices ActalCBus. & Prof. Code § 1720G#.
seq., and enjoining Defendant from continuing such;acts

J. Declaring that Defendant’s actions complainedmdve constitute a
violation of California common law trade dress ingement and unfair
competition and enjoining Defendant from continusugh acts; and

I

I

I

I

I

13

stationery, circulars, catalogs, charts, brochusabsertising, labels, packages
signs, and all other material in its possessioarmer its control which depict the

g

N
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l K. Granting Beats damages and such other and future relief as this Court
2 | deems just and proper.

3 | PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A JURY TRIAL ON ALL ISSUES.
4 Respectfully Submitte
5
6 | Dated: February 5, 2012 By:
s for Rlamtiff
7 Beats E ectronigs, LLC
8 Michael G. Kelber
Bradley F. Rademaker
9 Lawrence E. James
« Katherine Dennis Nye
[0 Neal, Gerber & Eisenberg LLP
Two North LaSalle Street
Il Suite 1700
Chicago, Illinois 60602
12 Telephone: £312; 269-8000
13 Facsimile: 312) 269-1747
14
Dated: February 5, 2012 By: 4’\/\/\((/\&,&/\/&
L5 Attorneys for Plaintft
6 Beats Electronics, LLC
Karin G. Pagnanelli ]SI BN 174763)
L7 Alexa L. Lewis (SBN 235867)
Mitchell Sllberberg & Knupp LLP
18 11377 West Olympic Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90064-1683
L9 Telephone: g310; 312-2000
20 Facsimile: 310)312-3100
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
14
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1 DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
2 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable.
3
: aw
5| Dated: February 5, 2012 By: (
Attorneys for P&é;lhtlff
6 Beats Electroniss, LLC
7 Michael G. Kelber
Bradley F. Rademaker
8 Lawrence E. James
Katherine Dennis Nye
9 Neal, Gerber & Eisénberg LLP
Two North LaSalle Street
10 Suite 1700
Chicago, Illinois 60602
[ Telephone: g312§ 269-8000
12 Facsimile: 312) 269-1747
3 | /l(bm NS
Dated: February 5, 2012 By: AN
14 Atforneys for Plaintiff
s Beats Electronics, LLC
Karin G. Pagnanelli (SBN 174763)
16 Alexa L. Lewis (SBN 235867)
Mitchell Silberberg & Knupp LLP
17 11377 West Olympic Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90064-1683
18 Telephone: %3 10; 312-2000
19 Facsimile: 310)312-3100
20
NGEDOCS: 2054886.1
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
15
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EXHIBIT A
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EXHIBIT A

EXA-16
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EXHIBIT B
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EXHIBIT B

EXB-17
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- EXHIBIT C
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EXHIBIT C

EXC-18
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EXHIBIT D
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US00D632668S

a2 United States Design Patent o) Patent No.: US D632,668 S

Brunner et al.

@5) Date of Patent: «x *Feb. 15,2011

(54)
(75)
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57 CLAIM

The ornamental design for an audio listening system, as
shown and described.

DESCRIPTION

FIG. 1 is a perspective view of an audio listening system
showing my new design, the opposite perspective view is a
mirror image;

FIG. 2 is back view of the embodiment of an audio listening
system depicted in FIG. 1;

FIG. 3 is a front view of the embodiment of an audio listening
system depicted in FIG. 1;

FIG. 4 is a first side view of the embodiment of an audio
listening system depicted in FIG. 1;

FIG. 5 is a second side view of the embodiment of an audio
listening system depicted in FIG. 1, from the opposite side
depicted in FIG. 4;

FIG. 6 is a top plan view of the embodiment of an audio
listening system depicted in FIG. 1; and,

FIG. 7 is a bottom plan view of the embodiment of an audio
listening system depicted in FIG. 1.

The broken lines showing the environment in the Figures are
for illustrative purposes only and form no part of the claimed
design.
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(57) CLAIM
The ornamental design for headphone, as shown.

DESCRIPTION
FIG. 1 is a perspective view of a headphone, according to
one embodiment of the present invention;

FIG. 2 is a front view of the headphone illustrated in FIG.
1, according to one embodiment of the present invention;

FIG. 3 is a back view of the headphone illustrated in FIG. 1,
according to one embodiment of the present invention;
FIG. 4 is a left side view of the headphone illustrated in FIG.
1, according to one embodiment of the present invention;
FIG. 5 is a right side view of the headphone illustrated in
FIG. 1, according to one embodiment of the present inven-
tion;

FIG. 6 is a top view of the headphone illustrated in FIG. 1,
according to one embodiment of the present invention;
FIG. 7 is a bottom view of the headphone illustrated in FIG.
1, according to one embodiment of the present invention;
FIG. 8 is a perspective view of a headphone, according to
another embodiment of the present invention;

FIG. 9 is a front view of the headphone illustrated in FIG.
8, according to another embodiment of the present inven-
tion;

FIG. 10 is a back view of the headphone illustrated in FIG.
8, according to another embodiment of the present inven-
tion; )

FIG. 11 is a left side view of the headphone illustrated in
FIG. 8, according to another embodiment of the present
invention;

FIG. 12 is a right side view of the headphone illustrated in
FIG. 8, according to another embodiment of the present
invention;

FIG. 13 is a top view of the headphone illustrated in FIG. 8,
according to another embodiment of the present invention;
and,

FIG. 14 is a bottom view of the headphone illustrated in FIG.
8, according to another embodiment of the present inven-
tion.

1 Claim, 8 Drawing Sheets
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE FOR DISCOVERY

This case has been assigned to District Judge Cormac J. Carney and the assigned
discovery Magistrate Judge is Jean P. Rosenbluth.

The case number on all documents filed with the Court should read as follows:

SACV13- 209 CJC (JPRx)

Pursuant to General Order 05-07 of the United States District Court for the Central

District of California, the Magistrate Judge has been designated to hear discovery related
motions.

All discovery related motions should be noticed on the calendar of the Magistrate Judge

NOTICE TO COUNSEL

A copy of this notice must be served with the summons and complaint on all defendants (if a removal action is
filed, a copy of this notice must be served on all plaintiffs).

Subsequent documents must be filed at the following location:

[_] Western Division M/Southern Division Eastern Division
312 N. Spring St., Rm. G-8 411 West Fourth St.,, Rm. 1-053 3470 Twelfth St., Rm. 134
Los Angeles, CA 90012 Santa Ana, CA 92701-4516 Riverside, CA 92501

Failure to file at the proper location will result in your documents being returned to you.
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ALEXA L. LEWIS (235867) all@msk.com

MITCHELL SILBERBERG & KNUPP LLP

11377 West Olympic Boulevard

Los Angeles, CA 90064-1683

Telephone: (310) 312-2000

Facsimile: (310) 312-3100

Attorneys for Plaintiff BEATS ELECTRONICS, LLC

Filed 02/06/13 Page 43 of 45 Page ID #:43

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

BEATS ELECTRONICS, LLC, a Delaware Limited
Liability Company,

PLAINTIFF(S)
V.

YAMAHA CORPORATION OF AMERICA, a
California Corporation,

DEFENDANT(S).

CASE NUMBER

SACV13-0209 |

SUMMONS

TO: DEFENDANT(S):

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21  days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it), you

must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached [X] complaint

amended complaint

[ ] counterclaim [_] cross-claim or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer
or motion must be served on the plaintiff’s attorney, Alexa L. Lewis, whose address is Mitchell Silberberg &
Knupp LLP, 11377 West Olympic Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA 90064-1683. If you fail to do so, judgment by
default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or

motion with the court.

FEB -6 2013
Dated:

Clerk, U.S. District Court {
JULIE PRADO.

ﬁ 4
.

a B,
By:
i
Deputy Clerk

(Seal of the Court)

[Use 60 days if the defendant is the United States or a United States agency, or is an officer or employee of the United States. Allowed

60 days by Rule 12(a)(3)].
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I (a) PLAINTUFFS (Check box if you are representing yourself [_])
BEATS ELECTRONICS, LLC
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YAMAHA CORPORATION OF AMERICA

(b) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address and Telephone Number. Ifyou are representing

yourself, provide same.)

Karin G. Pagnanelli (SBN 174763) kgp@msk.com
Alexa L. Lewis (SBN 235867) all@msk.com
MITCHELL SILBERBERG & KNUPP LLP
11377 W. Olympic Blvd., Los Angeles, CA 90064

Telephone: 310-312-2000

Facsimile: 310-312-3100

Attormneys (If Known)

Il. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an X in one box only.)

D I U.S. Government Plaintiff

D 2 U.S. Government Defendant D 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship
of Parties in item 1II)

D4 3 Federal Question (U.S.
Government Not a Party

Citizen or Subject 0

Citizen of This State

Citizen of Another State

PTF DEF

O O
2 2

fa Foreign Comntry []3 []3

II. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES - For Diversity Cases Only
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Incorporated or Principal Place [ ]4 []4
of Business in this State

Incorporated and Principal Place [ ]5 []5
of Business in Another State

Cls s

Foreign Nation

IY. ORIGIN (Place an X in one box only.)

E 1 Original D 2 Removed from [ ] 3 Remanded from D 4 Reinstated or D 5 Transferred from another district (specify): D 6 Multi- D 7 Appeal to District
Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened District Judge from
Litigation Magistrate Judge

V. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT: JURY DEMAND: [X] Yes [[] No (Check 'Yes' only if demanded in complaint.)

CLASS ACTION under F.R.C.P. 23: [] Yes D] No

X] MONEY DEMANDED IN COMPLAINT: $ various damages

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION (Cite the U. S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and write a brief statement of cause. Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity.)
35U.8.C. § 271 et seq, patent infringement; 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a), trade dress infringement

(] 400 State Reapportionment |{[_] 110 Insurance PERSONA IN O AN =~ PEHTIONS 0[] 710 Fair Labor Standards
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and Corrupt Judgment Liability I Other [] 740 Railway Labor Act
Organizations ] 151 Medicare Act (]340 Marine "] 790 Other Labor

] 480 Consumer Credit 1 152 Recovery of Defaulted | 345 Marine Product Litigation
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[ 810 Selective Service Veterans) [C] 350 Motor Vehicle Security

D 850 Securities/Commodities/ D 153 Recovery of D 355 Motor Vehicle .
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[] 875 Customer Challenge 12 Veteran's Benefits [] 360 Other Personal Drug (X 830 Patent
USC 3410 [] 160 Stockholders' Suits Injury "] 442 Empioyment [] 625 Drug Related D] 840 Trade&?:k

{] 890 Other Statutory Actions [] 190 Other Contract (1362 Personal Injury- ] 443 Housing/Acco- Seizure of LSEC

[] 891 Agricultural Act [] 195 Contract Product Med Malpractice mmodations Property 21 USC {[_] 61 HIA(13951)

(1 892 Economic Stabilization Liability (1365 Personal Injury- 444 Welfare 881 7] 862 Black Lung (923)
Act [] 196 Franchise | Product Liability 7] 445 American with [ 630 Liquor Laws 7] 863 DIWC/DIWW

[ 893 Environmental Matters PRO (1368 Asbestos Personal Disabilities ~  [[_] 640 R.R.& Truck 405(g))
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VIIL(a). IDENTICAL CASES: Has this action been previously filed in this court and dismissed, remanded or closed? [ No [ ves

If yes, list case number(s):

VIII(b). RELATED CASES: Have any cases been previously filed inthis court that are related to the present case? [ No {_] Yes

If yes, list case number(s):

Civil cases are deemed related if a previously filed case and the present case:

(Check ali boxes that apply) [] A. Arise from the same or closely related transactions, happenings, or events; or
D B. Call for determination of the same or substantially related or similar questions of law and fact; or
[T C. For other reasons would entail substantial duplication of labor if heard by different judges; or
[J b. tnvolve the same patent, trademark or copyright, and one of the factors identified above in a, b or ¢ also is present.

IX. VENUE: (When completing the following information, use an additional sheet if necessary.)

(a) List the County in this District; California County outside of this District; State if other than California; or Foreign Country, in which EACH named plaintiff resides.
[T] Check here if the government, its agencies or employees is a named plaintiff. If this box is checked, go to item (b).

i County in this District:*

California County outside of this District; State, if other than California; or Foreign Country

‘Los Angeles

(b) List the County in this District; California County outside of this District; State if other than California; or Foreign Country, in which EACH named defendant resides.
[C] Check here if the government, its agencies or employees is a named defendant. If this box is checked, go to item (c).

County in this District:*

Califonia County outside of this District; State, if other than California, or Foreign Country

Orange

(¢) List the County in this District; California County outside of this District; State if other than California; or Foreign Country, in which EACH claim arose.
Note: In land condemnation cases, use the location of the tract of land involved.

|
! County in this District:*

California County outside of this District; State, if other than California; or Foreign Country

:Los Angeles

* Los Angeles, Orange, San Bernardino, Riverside, Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis Obispo Counties
Note: In land condemnation cases, use the location of the tract of land involved )

X. SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY (OR PRO PER): AWYWL)\/\ Pate February 5,2013

Alexa L. Lewis

Notice to Counsel/Parties: The CV-71 (JS-44) Civil Cover Sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings
or other papers as required by law. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required pursuant to Local Rule 3 -1 is not filed
but is used by the Cletk of the Court for the purpose of statistics, venue and initiating the civil docket sheet. (For more detailed instructions, see separate instructions sheet.)

Key to Statistical codes relating to Social Security Cases:

Nature of Suit Code

861

862

863

863

864

865

Abbreviation

HIA

BL

DIWC

DIWW

SSID

RSI

Substantive Statement of Cause of Action

All claims for health insurance benefits (Medicare) under Title 18, Part A, of the Social Security Act, as amended.
Also, include claims by hospitals, skilled nursing facilities, etc., for certification as providers of services under the
program, (42 U.S.C. 1935FF(b))

All claims for "Black Lung" benefits under Title 4, Part B, of the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969.
(30 U.S.C. 923)

AN claims filed by insured workers for disability insurance benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as
amended; plus all claims filed for child's insurance benefits based on disability. (42 U.S.C. 405(g))

All claims filed for widows or widowers insurance benefits based on disability under Title 2 ofthe Social Security
Act, as amended. (42 U.S.C. 405(g))

All claims for supplemental security income payments based upon disability filed under Title 16 of the Social Security
Act, as amended.

All claims for retirement (old age) and survivors benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended. (42
U.S.C. (g»
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